
County Planning Committee

Date Tuesday 8 January 2019
Time 1.00 pm
Venue Council Chamber - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Declarations of Interest  
4. Minutes of the meeting held on 4 December 2018  (Pages 3 - 18)
5. Applications to be determined  (Pages 19 - 38)

DM/17/01033/FPA - Hurworth Burn Reservoir, Hurworth Burn 
Road, Trimdon, TS28 5NS
Hybrid planning application for the formation of 81 touring caravan 
pitches, 26 holiday lodges and associated amenity, storage and 
maintenance buildings, infrastructure and access.  Erection of building 
to serve as a water sports centre, including bar/restaurant (outline all 
matters reserved except access).  Part change of use reservoir to allow 
non-motorised water sports.

6. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

7. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information  

Part B
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 

public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

8. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
31 December 2018



To: The Members of the County Planning Committee

Councillor J Robinson (Chairman)
Councillor F Tinsley (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors A Bell, J Clare, K Hawley, I Jewell, C Kay, A Laing, 
L Maddison, H Nicholson, G Richardson, A Shield, A Simpson, 
P Taylor, M Wilkes and S Wilson

Contact: Ian Croft Tel: 03000 269702



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of County Planning Committee held in Council Chamber - County Hall, 
Durham on Tuesday 4 December 2018 at 1.00 pm

Present:

Councillor J Robinson (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors A Bell, J Clare, I Jewell, C Kay, A Laing, L Maddison, J Maitland, L Pounder, 
G Richardson, A Shield, A Simpson, P Taylor and F Tinsley (Vice-Chairman)

At the commencement of the meeting Councillor Robinson informed the Committee 
that when the application to be considered at Agenda Item 5 (a) was last 
considered by the Committee on 3 July 2018 he had declared an interest and 
withdrawn from the meeting.  The application at that time was deferred.

Following that meeting Councillor Robinson had taken further legal advice and been 
informed there was no requirement for him to declare such an interest.  As such he 
would remain in the meeting and vote on the application.

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hawley, Nicholson and 
Wilson.

2 Substitute Members 

Councillor J Maitland as substitute Member for Councillor H Nicholson and 
Councillor L Pounder as substitute Member for Councillor S Wilson.

3 Declarations of Interest 

Councillor Shield informed the Committee that he was one of the local Members for 
the Leadgate and Medomsley Division which was the area in which the application 
at Agenda Item 5 (f) was located.  However, he had no prejudicial interest in the 
application.

Referring to the same application, Councillor Jewell informed the Committee that 
while he knew the applicant he had no prejudicial interest in it.

4 Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Councillor Robinson referred the Committee to the query on the minutes of the 
meeting held on 2 October 2018 raised by Councillor Wilkes on 6 November 2018.  
C Cuskin, Planning and Development Solicitor informed the Committee that 
subsequent to the meeting the hand written notes of the Clerk and the Legal 
Adviser had been checked and no reference could be found to the levels of the 
ponds.

5 Applications to be determined 

Councillor Robinson informed the Committee that Item Nos. 5 (a), (b) and (c) would 
be presented in one presentation with separate votes being taken on each.

a DM/18/00894/FPA - Former Milburngate House, Framwelgate Waterside, 
Durham 

b DM/18/00896/VOC - Milburngate House,  Framwelgate Waterside, 
Durham 

c DM/18/02924/FPA - Milburngate House, Framwelgate Waterside, 
Durham 

The Committee considered the following applications:
DM/18/00894/FPA – Former Milburngate House, Framwelgate Waterside, 
Durham
92 bed hotel and two commercial units for shop, professional and financial service 
and/or food and drink uses (Class A1-A5) with associated works;
DM/18/00896/VOC – Milburngate House, Framwelgate Waterside, Durham
Variation of conditions 4 and 20 pursuant to planning permission DM/16/01228/FPA 
(mixed use development on Milburngate House site) so as to permit new service 
yard access, car parking and servicing yard amends, additional cinema screen, 
replacement of unit 9 leisure use with residential, insertion of mezzanine level in 
unit 7, movement of 7 residential units from Block 1E to Blocks 1B, 1C and 1D and 
replacement with storage, increase in roof terrace space at Block 1D and removal 
of 2 meeting rooms, fenestration amends, landscape and public realm adjustments 
and amendment to Framwelgate Peth access so as to permit non-residential traffic;
DM/18/02924/FPA - Former Milburngate House, Framwelgate Waterside, 
Durham City
Erection of office block (identified as Block 1E) (B1 use class)  with flexible 
permission for shop, food and drink and assembly & leisure uses at ground floor 
level  (Use Classes A1, A3 and D2) and associated public square and landscaping

(for copy see file of Minutes)

H Jones, Principal Planning Officer provided the Committee with a detailed 
presentation on applications DM/18/00894/FPA and DM/18/00896/VOC.

Application DM/18/00894/FPA had been deferred by the Committee on 3 July 2018 
because of the following concerns:

 Highways safety concerns of the proposed layby access – this had now been 
removed with the service/loading area being taken from the riverside.

Page 4



 The proposed back of house elevation onto Leazes Road - this had been 
amended and was now an area of public realm;

 The proposed roofscape had been considered too block-formed – the 
amended design had now introduced sloping roofs.

The Principal Planning Officer displayed the deferred and proposed layout, the 
loading bay arrangements proposed for the riverside, deferred and revised views, 
the revised southern elevation and the eastern elevation with feature landscaped 
terrace, recessed and projecting elements.  The Principal Planning Officer also 
displayed the proposed increased glazing to the lower floors and proposed 
materials to be used.

The amended service access from the riverside would require the suspension of 
eleven parking bays to allow the flow of two-way traffic.

Application DM/18/00896/VOC sought to amend a proposed signalised junction at 
Framwelgate Peth and the wording of condition 20 so that it could be utilised for 
vehicular traffic for not only the residential units but also for access to the public car 
park more generally (short stay parking).  However this had now been removed 
from the proposal and no longer formed part of the application.

The application sought approval for a further servicing access point to be provided 
within the development, approximately mid-way along the Framwelgate Waterside 
frontage and to the immediate north of the Block 1F building.  Aside from the 
access amendments proposed further amendments were sought to rationalise 
remaining elements of the development having regards to all the changes sought 
as follows:

 the approved cinema within the development be provided with an extra 
screen, making it a four screen cinema as oppose to the previously approved 
three.  This would occur at level 00.

 In Block 1b the commercial Unit 9 on level 03 be replaced with residential 
accommodation.

 In Block 1c a void space at level 03 comprise of a commercial mezzanine.
 To relocate 7 apartments from Block 1e (separately sought for replacement 

with an office block under DM/18/02924/FPA) into Blocks 1b, 1c and 1d.
 In Block 1d a roof terrace be enlarged and relocated to the southern end of 

the block and in so doing replace a meeting space at level 08.
 Some external treatment amendments to the Blocks are also proposed.  On 

Blocks 1b, 1c, 1d and 1f some adjustments to the fenestration and 
elevational detailing is proposed together with amendments to plant 
screening.

 Amends to the energy strategy for the development are proposed.
 Amendments to the car parking and servicing elements of the development 

are also proposed on the lowest levels of the development.  The layout of the 
car parking areas and circulation road/route itself is proposed to be amended 
and the total number of parking spaces to be provided within the phase 1 of 
the development (the detailed planning permission) is proposed to reduce 
from 339 to 323.  Alterations to the servicing areas include amendments and 

Page 5



repositioning of plant rooms, water tanks, substation, design of service yard 
space, lift and stairway position amends and store location amends.  The 
alignment of the supporting wall to the podium on its western side is 
proposed to be amended.   A car park vent housing is proposed to be 
introduced adjacent to the Block 1d.

 Amendments to the layout, design and materiality of the hard and soft 
landscaping proposals across the development were also proposed, the final 
detail of these matters to be controlled under condition on the existing 
planning permission.

One of the most significant changes proposed to the public realm was the 
amendment to the feature pedestrian route which cascaded down from 
Framwelgate Peth through the development.  The position and alignment was 
proposed to be amended with a repositioning approximately 3m further north and it 
was now proposed to be formed in part formed via a suspended staircase/walkway 
design rather than a cascading solid set of steps. 

It was therefore proposed to amend the content of condition 4 of the existing 
planning permission to account for the necessary amendments to the affected 
plans.

A Inch, Strategic Development Manager provided the Committee with a 
presentation on application DM/18/02924/FPA.  The application sought to replace 
the approved residential building with one that would be occupied predominantly as 
an office (Class B1), although the ground floor could be utilised as office space or 
for retail (A1), food and drink (A3) or assembly and leisure (D2) uses.  The building 
would comprise 6 storeys of commercial floor space albeit part of the building 
ceased at 5 storeys.  Beneath the building would be levels of parking and servicing.  

The footprint of the revised building would differ from that previously approved.  The 
gross external area (GEA) was less than that previously approved (approx 6,350m2 
as opposed to 10,300m2).  The shape of the footprint would in turn alter.

The northern elevation of the building would be set on a diagonal responding to a 
pedestrian route and vista through the development.  The external facades of the 
building would principally comprise of reconstituted stone, masonry, aluminium 
metalwork and curtain walling.  The building would essentially adopt a flat roofed 
approach to its roofscape though this would not be uniform as it would include a 
distinct step/cascade and would also contain a roof terrace.  

Public realm would enclose the building to its north, west and east.  To the north 
would be sections of a feature pedestrian route through the site leading from 
Framwelgate Peth and ultimately ending at the riverside level.  To the east would 
be a feature area of hard and soft landscaping public realm.  To the west between 
the building and Framwelgate Peth an area predominantly comprising of soft 
landscaping was proposed.  To the immediate south of the building a narrow strip of 
public realm was proposed before the vehicular access route from Framwelgate 
Peth down to the car parking beneath the build was located. 

Page 6



There were no changes to the proposed access and parking arrangements for 
customers/visitors and staff.  The main access to the public car park proposed 
under the wider redevelopment would remain off Framwelgate Waterside at the 
riverside level.

D Wafer, Strategic Traffic Manager informed the Committee that concern had been 
expressed about the proposed vehicular access from the Peth.  The design and 
safety of the access was for the County Council to administer and monitor and the 
right-turn could be withdrawn should this prove to be necessary.

Councillor D Freeman, local Member addressed the Committee to object to the 
applications.

The proposed development at the former Milburngate House site had changed 
element by element since the site had received planning permission in March 2018.  
Although the proposed hotel was a slight improvement on that previously proposed 
because it had removed the proposed service area layby and introduced 
landscaping, the proposed access on the riverside would spoil the riverside walk.  
The proposed new roof was still box-like but not the same as the Riverwalk 
development.  Councillor Freeman had concerns regarding the impact of the impact 
of the hotel development on the City and on the World Heritage Site.

The proposed two commercial units could be bars and restaurants and Councillor 
Freeman expressed safety concerns that these would be located only 1 metre away 
from a busy road.  Such uses would also have a negative impact on local residents 
and this was contrary to Policy H13 in the City of Durham Local Plan which 
protected residential areas from development that would have a significant adverse 
effect on their character or appearance or the amenities of residents within them.

Councillor Freeman expressed concern of the impact of the proposed hotel 
development on the Premier Inn accommodation across the river which he was 
concerned may become student accommodation.

Finally, Councillor Freeman expressed concern at the loss of residential provision 
that would result from the proposed office block.  This proposal, together with the 
proposed hotel, would result in the reduction of two residential blocks on the 
development, which originally was hoped would be an opportunity to bring new 
residents into the city.  There was no evidence of demand for such an office block, 
the design of which Councillor Freeman considered to be bulky and block-like.  The 
office building would be higher than the residential building which was initially 
proposed and would be contrary to Policy E3 of the City of Durham Local Plan.  The 
proposal neither preserved nor enhanced the special character, appearance and 
setting of the Durham City Centre Conservation Area and was therefore contrary to 
Policy E6 of the Local Plan.

Councillor Freeman urged the Committee to consider the reports and objections 
and to refuse the applications.

Page 7



Councillor J Ashby of the City of Durham Parish Council addressed the Committee 
on behalf of the Parish Council to object to the application to replace the approved 
residential apartment building with an office building.

Councillor Ashby expressed appreciation for the planning officer’s masterly 
summary and impeccable presentation of a great deal of complex information and 
of the considerations that applied in this case.  The Parish Council also appreciated 
the genuine commitment of the developers to delivering hundreds of jobs and 
hundreds of homes here, and was fully supportive of the overall package for the 
site.  What mattered was is getting the details right.

In that regard, the Committee’s decision on the first design of the proposed hotel 
was a highly significant statement of what was required in this very prominent 
location in the shadow of the World Heritage Site.

The Parish Council’s objection endorsed the comments of Historic England which 
stated that that “the combination of height and uniformity would result in a 
conspicuously block-like mass rising incongruously against its more varied 
neighbours and immediate surroundings.  The proposal represents a weakening of 
the design ethos that underpinned the consented scheme which sought to balance 
its scale with references to the pattern of Durham's historic town buildings. This 
proposal uses some of those references but the more uniform appearance and 
height ensures that the overall effect would be a negative one.”   

The Parish Council also endorsed the concerns of the Council’s own Design and 
Conservation Officers that “the overall height, scale, and mass remain at odds with 
the original masterplanning concepts and, as such, reflects negatively on the 
Conservation Area and setting of the World Heritage Site. Should the opportunity 
arise, the re-masterplanning of the site including the relocation of this block to a 
less sensitive location should be undertaken.”

The Parish Council differed from the planning officer’s report in that it considered that 
substantial harm was represented and that full weight should be given to these 
concerns.  The benefits did not outweigh the harm because the same benefits 
promised on this very important site could and should be delivered in accordance with 
the already approved detailed planning permission.

The City of Durham Parish Council requested that the application 
DM/18/02924/FPA be refused on the grounds that it failed to preserve or enhance 
the Conservation Area and interfered with views of the World Heritage Site contrary 
to City of Durham Development Plan 2004 Saved Policies identified in its written 
objection.

The Principal Planning Officer informed the Committee that the existing permission 
for the lower floor of the hotel block contained some commercial space and this 
applied for uses individual from the hotel.  However, it was more than likely that the 
lower floor would be ancillary to the restaurant space of the hotel above.

The Strategic Development Manager informed the Committee that the proposed 
office block was half a metre lower in height than the residential block which had 

Page 8



been consented.  Design and Conservation and Historic England had both stated 
that the proposed office block would result in a minor degree of harm, although this 
was less than substantial.

Mrs E Grimes addressed the Committee to object to the applications.  The 
proposed change of residential apartments to a hotel and offices was yet another 
change to the plan originally approved for the site.

The residential apartments originally proposed for this site would have allowed for 
balance to be brought into the city and a presence in the city during periods of 
student holidays.  Mrs Grimes asked why the developers had originally applied for 
residential apartments if it was known these would not be viable.

The proposed hotel was an opportunity for a leading design, yet the resubmitted 
application contained only the smallest of changes over that previously deferred by 
the Committee, with a pitched roof and some design tweaks.

The proposed office block was a huge massing in monolithic style, which would 
look like a huge office block on one descent route from the railway station and 
would obliterate the view of the World Heritage Site.

The massing of large buildings would lead to a tunnelling effect across Milburngate 
Bridge.  The proposed servicing area from the riverside would lead to congestion 
along the riverside and would result in views across the river being worsened.  Any 
vehicle using the riverside service area would need to turn and may use the bottom 
of Sidegate or entrance to Crook Hall to do so which would create congestion and 
vehicles struggling to make the manoeuvre.

Mr J Lowe of the City of Durham Trust and Sidegate Residents Association 
addressed the Committee to object to the applications.  The former Milburngate 
House development was constantly changing with three proposed amendments 
being considered by the Committee at today’s meeting and there was no 
confidence that approval if granted would be built.  The applications would result in 
a significant reduction in the number of residential units with one proposed 
residential block to become a hotel and another to become offices.

The hotel application had been deferred when considered by the Committee on 3 
July 2018 because the design was not considered to be worthy.  However, the 
visuals provided to the meeting showed that the delivery of a high quality and 
sensitive scheme was not happening.

The proposed delivery arrangements from the riverside were dangerous and would 
necessitate lorries to park in the road and lead to the loss of parking spaces.  The 
Radisson Hotel slightly further along from this location had originally been refused 
planning permission because it proposed a similar type of delivery system as that 
currently being proposed.

The change of use would also significantly lead to an increase in the leisure and 
night time economy which could lead to increased problems of anti-social behaviour 
and rowdiness.  It was crucial the details of this development were right and the 

Page 9



scheme originally approved must have been considered workable.  The revised 
hotel design was not worthy and Mr Lowe asked the Committee to reject the 
application.

Mr M Dowson of the Radisson Hotel addressed the Committee.  The access 
arrangements for the proposed hotel would result require the realignment of the 
riverside road onto the riverside verge and the removal of two pedestrian seats.  
Lorries, rather than trying to turn in the proposed service yard, would attempt to turn 
up the waterside and Sidegate which would result in congestion.  Additionally, 
should two lorries or buses arrive at the same time at the location this would cause 
a road blockage.

The Principal Planning Officer informed the Committee that although concerns had 
been expressed about the loss of residential units, the proposed alternatives of a 
hotel and office block were both compatible uses for a city centre location.  Should 
the applications be approved the development as a whole would retain a 
substantial number of residential units with approval granted for 153 residential 
units in detail and potentially 150 more in outline.  A loading bay was proposed for 
the wider development beneath the podium elements of the development, however 
because of its location, a separate dedicated service arrangement was proposed 
for the hotel.

The Strategic Traffic Manager informed the Committee that the bulk of the 
Milburngate development would be serviced from a central service area, however 
the location of the hotel meant that it would need to be serviced from a service area 
on the waterside.  This would result in the loss of 11 parking bays.  The 
development overall would create a car park of approximately 440 spaces.  It was 
anticipated that only linen and refuse collections would be made by the dedicated 
hotel service area.  The loading bay would be located on a relatively quiet waterside 
and vehicles would be able to turn in the service yard and Sidegate.

Mr N McMillan of MGH Card LLP addressed the Committee in support of the 
applications, which were all intrinsically linked.

The proposed development would comprise a 92-bed hotel with two commercial 
units for flexible A1-A5 use at ground floor level at Block 1A of the Milburngate site.

Following deferral by Committee in July 2018, the concerns of the Members in 
relation to design and highway safety had been taken into account and addressed 
by the applicant.

The roofscape of the hotel had been re-designed to incorporate pitched roofs to 
reflect and respond to the surrounding development form.  Further design 
amendments had also been introduced to create a more active frontage at ground 
floor level and changes to the proposed brickwork had been incorporated which 
reduced the overall mass of the building.  These changes respect the backdrop of 
Highgate and the wider urban context. 

The proposed service layby on Milburngate Bridge had been removed in its entirety 
and replaced by a service loading bay on Framwelgate Waterside at level 00.  The 

Page 10



proposed loading bay would be located on the northbound carriageway and allowed 
sufficient space for massing vehicles.

Overall, the proposed development was considered to compliment the other 
components of the previously consented mixed-use scheme and would contribute 
to all three dimensions of sustainable development by delivering benefits within 
each of the social, economic and environmental areas.

The proposed development would assist in the delivery of £160m additional inward 
investment in this area as part of the wider Milburngate scheme.  The hotel would 
provide additional bed spaces for overnight visitors to the city and continue to 
contribute to a truly mixed-use scheme which provided employment opportunities, 
along with improved leisure and retail facilities for residents of the local community, 
enhancing consumer choice within a sustainable and accessible location. 

The scheme provided the opportunity to boost tourism and overnight visitors to the 
city, an aspect which the Durham Tourism Management Plan 2016-2020 stated 
was currently static, possibly due to a lack of new overnight accommodation.  The 
construction of a new hotel within the city centre would increase the capacity for 
overnight stays within Durham and would subsequently create the opportunity to 
attract more visitors to spend money within the city.  There were 1.43 million 
overnight tourists in Durham in 2014 spending £308 million, which also provided the 
opportunity to support job creation, as tourism currently supported more than 
10,800 full time equivalent jobs in the county, and up to 75 jobs were associated 
with the hotel and commercial floorspace with 24 additional to the existing 
permission.  There were also 80 direct and 121 indirect jobs proposed during the 
construction period.

In summary, the development of Milburngate House Hotel would deliver a 
significant number of social, economic and environmental benefits within the 
context of the approved wider Milburngate Masterplan and would subsequently 
compliment the neighbouring components of the consented scheme.

The s73 application sought minor material amendments to Conditions 4 and 20, to 
implement minor changes to the permission.

The amendments sought were as a result of contemporary changes to commercial 
market requirements and captured all the changes necessary to pave the way for 
the successful development of the site and construction starting on site in Spring 
2019 on Phase 1.  Overall, the proposed amendments were considered minor and 
would not significantly alter the overall scheme.  

Finally, referring to the proposed office block development, Mr McMillan informed 
the Committee that this comprised an office block (Class B1) with ancillary uses on 
the ground floor and an associated public square and landscaping at Block 1E of 
the Milburngate site. 

Under the existing consent, Block 1E had permission for residential use.  This 
proposed use was based on market intelligence and forecasting at the time of the 
application.  However, following updated advice and detailed engagement over the 

Page 11



last two years with potential occupiers/funders/tenants, it had become apparent that 
delivery of large residential schemes in this market area was not a viable and 
deliverable option in the first Phase of the development.  For these reasons, a 
requirement to deliver alternative uses within Phase 1 had been identified.

There had been a proven demand for employment use within the city.  Research by 
North-East agents showed that in the first six months of 2018 there were enquires 
from occupiers looking for a combined 730,000sqft of office space across the region 
which could have considered Durham with an average enquiry size of 40,000sqft, 
equating to in the region of 6,700 jobs.  Other towns and cities in the North East 
had all increased commercial property development in recent years which was 
attracting footloose occupiers whilst Durham had no office space to meet these 
requirements.  The proposed office would create a vital kick starter to enable 
Durham to be promoted to the occupier market as a city that was truly open for 
business.  It would provide a central part of the City’s core infrastructure and would 
enable Durham to attract occupiers who were increasingly being drawn to CBD 
locations, and importantly allow the City to compete with the other North East 
regional city centres.

The proposed office was within the maximum height parameters set by the existing 
permission and had a footprint which was 11% smaller than the approved scheme 
and had created additional opportunities for landscaping and public realm.  The 
massing of the proposed office had been developed with careful consideration of its 
context and avoided unsuitable uniformity by introducing several breaks in massing 
and materiality.  The building geometry was subtle yet dynamic in the range of 
massing/scale relationships presented across various vantage points.  This 
approach provided visual clarity of the different use and step change in this area to 
the commercial context leading on to additional office development proposed in 
Phase 2, thus providing a further layer of variety which was vital to all good 
masterplans.

The proposed development would complement the other components of the 
consented mixed-use scheme and provided a more attractive environment for 
residents and visitors.  The scheme would provide high-quality office space 
accommodation within a sustainable city centre location which would create up to 
416 jobs once operational.  This had the potential to increase footfall within the city 
and result in additional spending in the city and local economy.  In addition, the 
scheme would also enable the delivery of a key axial link providing a direct route 
from Framwellgate Peth to the heart of the Milburngate site and through to the 
riverside as well as the delivery of Durham Square. 

In summary, the development of the office would meet the proven demand for high-
quality office scape in the city and deliver a significant number of social, economic 
and environmental benefits itself and within the context of the approved wider 
Milburngate Masterplan.

Mr L McGlaughlin provided the Committee with a presentation which showed views 
along the proposed Milburngate terraces and a visualisation of the residential 
courtyard.  The development would provide a high quality internal environment and 
would always focus on view and context within a modern setting.

Page 12



Councillor Laing informed the Committee that she had considered the reports and 
representations made at the meeting.  She considered that the applicant had made 
a positive attempt to address the concerns of the Committee when the hotel 
application was considered in July.  The amendments, including the redesign of the 
roofscape had been positive.  There were no objections from Historic England and 
Design and Conservation and Councillor Laing considered that all three 
applications should be supported.

Councillor Clare informed the Committee that when it last considered the hotel 
application in July 2018 it had not wanted to refuse the application because of its 
economic importance, yet at the same time could not approve the application 
because it turned Milburngate Bridge into a service yard.  Hence the Committee 
deferred the application to allow amendments to be made.

The objectors had referred to the changes made to the application as being slight 
and tweaked.  The pictures of the proposed development showed the proposed 
glass frontage to the hotel with access directly off Milburngate Bridge and sight 
lines, particularly from the station to the east.  Councillor Clare concurred with 
Councillor Laing that the developer had properly addressed the concerns of the 
Committee.  The Design and Conservation Team had raised no objections as 
detailed at Paragraph 89 of the report and the World Heritage Site Coordinator had 
raised no concerns, as detailed at Paragraph 98 of the report.

The Committee of Councillors had a strong duty to listen to the concerns of 
objectors and Councillor Clare had made notes of these concerns.  A lot of regret 
had been expressed at the loss of residential units, which Councillor Clare shared, 
although the issue for the Committee to consider was whether the application 
before it was acceptable in planning terms.  The loss of residential units was not a 
ground on which to refuse permission.

Referring to the concern expressed regarding the proposed loading bay and access 
from the riverside, Council Highways Officers had advised that the proposed 
arrangement was acceptable and therefore to refuse on such grounds would be 
challengeable at appeal.

The presentation made by Councillor Ashby was fair, balanced and genuine but 
contained no grounds to suggest that the proposed office would have a substantial 
harm on the World Heritage Site.

While Councillor Clare was less convinced by the design of the proposed office 
block, which he considered to be of a block nature, he did not consider there to be 
any grounds of a sufficient weight to refuse the application.

These applications were acceptable proposals for the site and there were no 
grounds of sufficient weight to object to them.  The development would have a 
positive economic impact on the city with the hotel receiving enthusiastic support 
from Visit County Durham.

Page 13



Councillor Clare informed the Committee that he supported the scheme in its 
entirety.

Councillor Jewell thanked officers for their detailed report and presentation, and 
thanked local residents for providing a balanced assessment of the applications.  In 
July, the concerns of the Committee led to the application being deferred on the 
grounds of design, materials and access arrangements.  The amended application 
addressed these concerns and Councillor Jewell considered that officer 
recommendations should be approved.

Councillor Shield informed the Committee that he had listened to both officers and 
objectors and was troubled by the distinct views of officers and residents.  The City 
of Durham Trust considered that the design of the hotel had improved and the 
World Heritage Site Coordinator considered that the roofscape had helped to 
absorb the hotel into the city.  The Committee had previously been appalled at the 
proposed site of the layby and Councillor Shield expressed concern that the new 
access arrangement may only be moving the problem to a different location.  
Councillor Shield ask that this be reviewed again.  However, in the absence of 
objections from statutory or internal consultees Councillor Shield had no alternative 
other than to propose and approve acceptance.

Councillor Maddison considered there to be an economic need for the development 
and this was endorsed by Business Durham.  Councillor Maddison shared 
Councillor Shield’s concerns regarding the relocation of the loading bay and asked 
why only the hotel needed this loading bay.

The Strategic Traffic Manager displayed a plan of the development showing the 
proposed loading bay.  Most of the development would be serviced from a main 
podium, but the site was very large and the hotel was located at the extreme of it.  If 
problems were caused by vehicles entering Sidegate then the Council could, if 
needs be, introduce an access only restriction.

Councillor Tinsley informed the Committee that this was an important application 
with the Committee being custodians of the historic environment.  The principal of 
the development, a hotel, residential and offices, within a city centre location was 
acceptable.  Although this would lead to the loss of some residential units, the 
development as a whole would still deliver residential accommodation.

The access to a service area from the roadside rather than access to the central 
podium area was not a major detrimental impact.  In July, a design problem was 
how the building fronted onto Milburngate Bridge, and the amended design was a 
much-improved solution.  A sloped roof had been introduced and the design, with 
recesses, was a nod back to Georgian design and was not monolithic.  The 
approach to open spaces had resulted in a strong pedestrian permeability through 
the site.

The development would have a less than substantial harm on the World Heritage 
Site and there were no grounds to refuse it under the NPPF.  The applications 
should be supported.

Page 14



The Committee then voted on each individual application

DM/18/00894/FPA – Former Milburngate House, Framwelgate Waterside, 
Durham

Moved by Councillor Laing, Seconded by Councillor Jewell and 
Resolved:
That the application be approved subject to a S106 Deed of Variation and the 
Conditions contained in the report.

DM/18/00896/VOC – Milburngate House, Framwelgate Waterside, Durham

Moved by Councillor Laing, Seconded by Councillor Jewell and 
Resolved:
That the application be approved subject to a S106 Deed of Variation and the 
Conditions contained in the report.

DM/18/02924/FPA - Former Milburngate House, Framwelgate Waterside, 
Durham City

Moved by Councillor Laing, Seconded by Councillor Jewell and 
Resolved:
That the application be approved subject to a S106 Deed of Variation and the 
Conditions contained in the report.

Councillors Maddison and Simpson left the meeting

d DM/18/02950/FPA - Bishop Barrington School,  Woodhouse Lane, 
Bishop Auckland DL14 6LA 

The Committee considered a report of the Senior Planning Officer regarding an 
application for the erection of building, associated external works, landscaping and 
car parking and demolition of 3 teaching blocks at Bishop Barrington School, 
Woodhouse Lane, Bishop Auckland (for copy see file of Minutes).

S Pilkington, Senior Planning Officer provided a detailed presentation of the 
application which included a site location plan, demolition plan, proposed site plan, 
site sections and 3D proposed visuals of the site.

Councillor Kay informed the Committee that while he was not the Ward Member, he 
lived three minutes from the site.  While the proposed new school was an excellent 
opportunity for young people he expressed disappointment that school coaches 
would not alight within the curtilage of the large school grounds.  There were two 
schools opposite each other at this location and this resulted in a very bust 10 
minutes at the start and finish of the school day when pupils were being 
transported.  Councillor Kay moved approval of the application.

Councillor Clare informed the Committee that the current school buildings were in a 
decrepit condition and seconded approval of the application.

Page 15



Councillor Tinsley, local Member for the adjacent Electoral Division asked how 
school children would be accommodated while the demolition and construction 
works were being carried out.  Mr S Hunter, on behalf of the applicant, replied that 
the existing school would be operational throughoutt the construction period.

Upon a vote being taken it was

Resolved:
That the application be approved subject to the Conditions contained in the report.

e DM/18/02594/FPA - Land to the East of Clare Lodge and Durham Road, 
Chilton DL17 0RW 

The Committee considered a report of the Senior Planning Officer regarding an 
application for the re-plan of Phase II of Permission DM/17/01213/VOC comprising 
110 dwellings on land to the east of Clare Lodge and Durham Road, Chilton (for 
copy see file of Minutes).

S Pilkington, Senior Planning Officer provided a detailed presentation of the 
application which included a site location plan, aerial photograph, approved site 
layout and indicative Phase II, proposed Phase II layout, typical elevations, view 
towards southern boundary of the site and view from the main road towards Phase 
II.

Mr J Ridgeon of Avant Homes addressed the Committee.  He thanked planning 
officers and the local Member for their support and engagement during the 
application process.  The principles of the outline development were being adhered 
to.  Avant Homes were currently on site building and had received positive 
feedback from the site.  There was a strong demand for smaller homes and it was 
proposed to introduce 20 additional dwellings on the development to meet this 
demand.  The additional housing would be high quality affordable entry housing 
and would maintain the design principle of the development.  The application also 
brought with it an increased contribution towards open space and sporting 
provision, highway infrastructure capacity, education contribution and biodiversity 
enhancements.

Councillor Clare expressed frustration at developers applying for permission then 
discovering they needed more smaller houses and submitting a further application.  
Design and Conservation officers had expressed concerns at the increased number 
of units on the development and density.  There was a lack of open space on the 
development and roads would be narrow.  While not prepared to reject the 
application, because this would fail at appeal, Councillor Clare expressed his 
objection to the process.

Councillor Richardson agreed with the views of Councillor Clare and suggested that 
the application should be refused on the grounds of increased density and the 
number of units.

Councillor Tinsley informed the meeting that he concurred with the views of 
Councillor Clare.

Page 16



Councillor Kay informed the meeting that while he had sympathy with the views of 
Councillor Clare, it was unfair to single out one developer.  He could not see any 
planning grounds to refuse the application and moved approval of it.

Councillor Shield seconded approval of the application.

Upon a vote being taken it was

Resolved:
That the application be approved subject to the completion of a deed of variation to 
the existing Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure the provision of the following 
across the whole development site:-

 23 Affordable housing units across the development. 
 £131,258 towards open space and sporting provision within the Electoral 

Division
 £116,495 towards highway infrastructure capacity improvements at Rushford 

roundabout.
 £586,442 towards increasing the capacity of primary schools in the area.
 £33,165 to deliver targeted biodiversity enhancements in the area.

and the Conditions contained in the report.

f DM/18/02424/FPA - Ebchester Hill, Medomsley 

The Committee considered a report of the Planning Officer regarding an application 
for the erection of stables, formation of associated parking and change of use of 
land for equestrian purposes at Ebchester Hill, Medomsley (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

N Graham, Planning Officer provided a detailed presentation of the application 
which included a site location plan, proposed plans and elevations and site 
photographs.

The representations of Councillor W Stelling, local Member, were read out to 
Committee as follows:

‘Dear Members.  Sorry I can’t be present for this meeting.  However, can I as Local 
Member fully endorse this application for refusal for the reasons set out in the 
report.  Thank you Chairman.’

Councillor Jewell informed the Committee that the applicant lived within his 
electoral division and had sought his advice during the pre-planning process.  This 
was a very small development and the proposed construction material had been 
changed to natural wood cladding.  The applicant had addressed most of the 
objections to the development and Councillor Jewell considered that the application 
should be approved.

Page 17



Councillor Shield informed the Committee that the application site was in a 
prominent location in open countryside and overlooked several properties.  The 
location was a known highways accident blackspot and the development of Shotley 
Bridge Hospital would increase traffic.  This was a comprehensive officers report 
and Councillor Shield moved refusal of the application.

Councillor Tinsley agreed with the views of the landscape officer that this was a 
development in open countryside and would have a detrimental impact.  Councillor 
Tinsley seconded refusal of the application.

Upon a vote being taken it was

Resolved:
That the application be refused for the reasons contained in the report.

Page 18



Planning Services

COMMITTEE REPORT
APPLICATION DETAILS

APPLICATION NO: DM/17/01033/FPA

FULL APPLICATION DESCRIPTION:

Hybrid planning application for the formation of 81 touring 
caravan pitches, 26 holiday lodges and associated 
amenity, storage and maintenance buildings, 
infrastructure and access. Erection of building to serve as 
a water sports centre, including bar/restaurant (outline all 
matters reserved except access). Part change of use 
reservoir to allow non-motorised water sports.

NAME OF APPLICANT: Mr Brett and Terence Wilkinson

ADDRESS: Hurworth Burn Reservoir, Hurworth Burn Road, Trimdon
TS28 5NS

ELECTORAL DIVISION: Trimdon

CASE OFFICER: Steven Pilkington, Senior Planning Officer, 03000 263964 
steven.pilkington@durham.gov.uk 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS

The Site 

1. The application site consists of an irregular shaped parcel of land located to the east 
of Trimdon to the south of the County. The site extends to approximately 25 hectares 
in area and comprises a mix of agricultural fields and part of the water body of Hurworth 
Burn Reservoir, including the dam to the south of the site. The site is relatively level, 
with higher ground to the north beyond the site boundaries. The site is bound by the 
highway Hurworth Burn Road to the south, to the east lies the Castle Eden Walkway, 
agricultural fields and the remainder of the reservoir, to the north agricultural fields are 
present. To the east of the site the River Skerne is located, along with a wooded area. 
Isolated residential dwellings of Hurworth Burn Reservoir and House are located 
immediately to the south west.

2. The reservoir and associated land are in private ownership having being sold by 
Hartlepool Water.  

3. A public right of way (Footpath No.30, Wingate) is located adjacent to the western 
boundary of the site, extending to the north. The permissive path of the Castle Eden 
Walkway is located to the east. The site is designated as a County Wildlife Site, directly 
to the south of the site lies the Local Nature Reserve of the Castle Eden Walkway. 
Approximately 680m to the east of the site lies the Pike Whin Bog Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI). The Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special Protection 
Area and Ramsar site along with Northumberland Special Area of Conservation lies 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

mailto:steven.pilkington@durham.gov.uk


5miles to the east of the site. Trimdon Conservation Area, which contains a number of 
listed buildings lies approximately 2miles to the west of the site. 

The Proposal 

4. Planning Permission is sought for the formation of a touring caravan site consisting of 
81 pitches arranged in a north south orientation along the western lakeshore with a 
loop road for access. An amenities and separate workshop building is proposed to be 
sited to the south of the site to serve the development. In addition to this 26 holiday 
lodges are proposed to the south lake shore of the upper part of the reservoir arranged 
in an east west orientation, served through the access for the touring caravan site.    

5. A water sports centre is proposed in outline form to provide a hub building with a 
bar/restaurant and water sports facilities. The building would be up to two storey in 
height and sited on the north western shore line and would facilitate non-motorised 
water sports activities on the majority of the reservoir.  A new vehicular site entrance 
is proposed, approximately 20 to the west of the existing site entrance. 

6. The development project as a whole is identified as being EIA development under the 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 
and an Environmental Statement been submitted in support of the application.

7. This planning application is being reported to County Planning Committee because it 
is a non-residential development proposal with a site area in excess of 2 hectares. 

PLANNING HISTORY

8. There is no relevant planning history to the site. 

PLANNING POLICY

NATIONAL POLICY 

9. A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2018.  
The overriding message continues to be that new development that is sustainable 
should go ahead without delay. It defines the role of planning in achieving sustainable 
development under three overarching objectives – economic, social and 
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways.   

10. In accordance with Paragraph 213 of the National Planning Policy Framework, existing 
policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or 
made prior to the publication of this Framework.  Due weight should be given to them, 
according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  
The relevance of this issue is discussed, where appropriate, in the assessment section 
of the report. The following elements of the NPPF are considered relevant to this 
proposal.

11. NPPF Part 2 Achieving Sustainable Development - The purpose of the planning 
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and therefore 
at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. It 
defines the role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three 
overarching objectives - economic, social and environmental, which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. The application 

Page 20



of the presumption in favour of sustainable development for plan-making and decision-
taking is outlined.

12. NPPF Part 4 Decision-Making - Local planning authorities should approach decisions 
on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full 
range of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and permission in 
principle, and work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-
makers at every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development 
where possible.

13. NPPF Part 5 Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes - To support the Government's 
objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient 
amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of 
groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with 
permission is developed without unnecessary delay.

14. NPPF Part 6 Building a Strong, Competitive Economy - The Government is committed 
to securing economic growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, building on the 
country's inherent strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges of global competition 
and a low carbon future.

15. NPPF Part 8 Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities - The planning system can 
play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities. Developments should be safe and accessible; Local Planning 
Authorities should plan positively for the provision and use of shared space and 
community facilities. An integrated approach to considering the location of housing, 
economic uses and services should be adopted.

16. NPPF Part 9 Promoting Sustainable Transport - Encouragement should be given to 
solutions which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and reduce 
congestion.  Developments that generate significant movement should be located 
where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes 
maximised.

17. NPPF Part 11 Making Effective Use of Land - Planning policies and decisions should 
promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while 
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living 
conditions. Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating 
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of 
previously-developed or 'brownfield' land.

18. NPPF Part 12 Achieving Well-Designed Places – The Government attaches great 
importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key aspect of 
sustainable development, indivisible from good planning.

19. NPPF Part 14 Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal 
Change - The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in 
a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help 
to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas 
emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of 
existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.

Page 21



20. NPPF Part 15 Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment - Conserving and 
enhancing the natural environment.  The Planning System should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes, geological conservation interests, recognising the wider benefits of 
ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity, preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from pollution and 
land stability and remediating contaminated or other degraded land where appropriate.

21. NPPF Part 16 Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment - Heritage assets 
range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest 
significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to be 
of Outstanding Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable resource, and 
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations.

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework

22. The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance notes, 
circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice Guidance 
Suite.  This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of matters. Of 
particular relevance to this application is the practice guidance with regards to; air 
quality; conserving and enhancing the historic environment; design; flood risk; land 
stability; light pollution; natural environment; noise; open space, sports and recreation 
facilities, public rights of way and local green space; planning obligations; travel plans, 
transport assessments and statements; use of planning conditions and; water supply, 
wastewater and water quality.

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 

LOCAL PLAN POLICY: 

The Easington District Local Plan (SBLP) 2001

23. Policy 1 – General Principles of Development Due regard will be had to the 
development plan when determining planning applications. Account will be taken as 
to whether the proposed development accords with sustainable development 
principles while benefiting the community and local economy.

24. Policy 3 – Protection of the Countryside Development outside the “settlement limits” 
will be regarded as development within the countryside. Other than specifically allowed 
for by other policies, development in the countryside will not be approved.

25. Policy 14 - Protection of Special Areas of Conservation Development that is likely to 
adversely affect a Special Area of Conservation will not be permitted unless certain 
exceptional criteria are met. 

26. Policy 15 – Protection of sites of Special Scientific Interest and Natural Nature 
Reserves. Sets out that development which is likely to adversely affect a notified site 
of special scientific interest will only be approved where there is no alternative solution 
and that the development is in the national interest. 

27. Policy 16 - Protection of Sites of Nature Conservation Importance, Local Nature 
Reserves and Ancient Woodlands. Advises that development which is likely to 
adversely affect such a site will only be approved where is no alternative solution and 
the development is of national interest.

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


28. Policy 18 - Species and Habitat Protection Development which adversely affects a 
protected species or its habitat will only be approved where the reasons for 
development outweigh the value of the species or its habitat.

29. Policy 19 - Management of Areas of Nature Conservation Seeks to protect all areas of 
nature conservation interest including through the application of other relevant 
conservation interest related policies within the Local Plan so as to control 
inappropriate development.

30. Policy 35 - Design and Layout of Development The design and layout of development 
should consider energy conservation and efficient use of energy, reflect the scale and 
character of adjacent buildings, provide adequate open space and have no serious 
adverse effect on the amenity of neighbouring residents or occupiers.

31. Policy 36 - Design for Access and the Means of Travel The design and layout of 
development should ensure good access and encourage alternative means of travel 
to the private car.

32. Policy 38 - Designing out Crime The design and layout of development will be required 
to have due regard to personal safety and the security of property, particularly in the 
hours of darkness.

33. Policy 39 - Design for Art Encourages the provision of artistic elements within new 
development.

34. Policy 74 - Footpaths and Other Public Rights of Way Public Rights of Way will be 
improved, maintained and protected from development.

35. Policy 75 - Provision for Cyclists and Pedestrians Provision for cyclists and pedestrians 
will be reviewed to establish a safe and convenient network within, and between 
settlements.

RELEVANT EMERGING POLICY:

The County Durham Plan

36. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF says that decision-takers may give weight to relevant 
policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of the emerging plan; the extent to 
which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies; and, the degree of 
consistency of the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF.  The 
County Durham Plan (CDP) was submitted for Examination in Public and a stage 1 
Examination concluded.  An Interim Report was issued by an Inspector dated 18 
February 2015, however that Report was quashed by the High Court following a 
successful Judicial Review challenge by the Council.  In accordance with the High 
Court Order, the Council has withdrawn the CDP and a new plan being prepared.  In 
the light of this, policies of the CDP can no longer carry any weight.  As the new plan 
progresses through the stages of preparation it will begin to accrue weight.

The above represents a summary of those policies considered relevant. The full text, criteria, and 
justifications can be accessed at: http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/Whats-in-place-to-support-

planning-and-development-decision-making-at-the-moment (Sedgefield Borough Local Plan)

Page 23

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/Whats-in-place-to-support-planning-and-development-decision-making-at-the-moment
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/Whats-in-place-to-support-planning-and-development-decision-making-at-the-moment


CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES

STATUTORY RESPONSES:

37. Environment Agency – Object to the planning application as the assessment and 
mitigation of the risks to otters are inadequate. Additional information supplied setting 
out that the development will connect to Northumbrian Water sewer system would 
minimise risks to surface and ground waters in the vicinity of the site. 

38. Natural England – Advise that the development could have potential significant effects 
on Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special protection Area and Ramsar Site.  
Further information in order to determine the significance of these impacts and the 
scope for mitigation is required, without this information objections are raised to the 
proposal.  

39. Highways Authority – Offer no objections to the development providing the relocated 
access into the site and associated visibility splays are secured as part of any planning 
approval. 

40. Northumbrian Water – Advise that any final details for the disposal of foul and surface 
water should be developed and agreed by condition. It is highlighted that a sewer 
crosses the site and should be incorporated into the development. 

41. Drainage and Costal Protection – Advise that the development should take into 
consideration a surface water management train throughout the site, including for 
source, site and regional controls. 

INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES:

42. Ecology Section – Object to the proposals. It is advised that the submitted application 
does not address concerns regarding connectivity between Hurworth Burn Reservoir 
and Teesmouth SPA. As a Competent Authority under the Habitats Regulations the 
Council has undertaken an Appropriate Assessment of the likely impacts on the  
European protected site. Based on the insufficient information at present on possible 
impacts and any proposed mitigation measures to address these impacts the 
Appropriate Assessment concludes that the application is likely to have a significant 
effect on a species component of the overwintering waterfowl assemblage of the 
Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and should be refused. It is advised that Otter 
holts are not within the site boundary and unlikely to be directly affected by this 
proposal, however it is considered that the  negative impacts caused by habitat loss, 
fragmentation and a reduction in available foraging time caused by human 
disturbance are likely to result in otters dispersing from the site. It is considered that 
although the development proposes to utilise minimal lighting the development is still 
likely to contribute to negative impacts form caravan lighting and vehicle movements 
on site impacting on bat species.  

43. Landscape – Advise that the proposals would have substantial adverse landscape 
and visual effects due to the development of a tranquil, undeveloped attractive 
landscape. 

44. Landscape (Arboriculture) – Advise that the majority of the site is free of trees, 
however the erection of the lodges and access road to the west of the site will impact 
on individual trees, consideration has not been given to the impact of this.     

Page 24



45. Environmental Health and Consumer Protection (Air Quality) – Advise the site is not 
in close proximity of any Air Quality Management Areas and based on the likely trip 
rates from the development no further assessment to qualify or quantify the impacts 
on air quality will be required.      

46. Environmental Health and Consumer Protection (Pollution Control) – Advise that the 
development is in a low noise area and therefore any noise, especially of an impulsive 
nature such as screams/shouts, are likely to be audible at nearby residential 
properties. Both affected properties have line of site onto the proposed development 
site and therefore although fairly removed noise will still be audible externally. 
However providing the development is appropriately managed and reasonable 
precautions be imposed via a management plan the development is unlikely to result 
in significant noise impacts. However, due to the existing noise climate, the 
development will materially alter the noise climate on site and as such will inevitably 
impact on the nearby residential properties over the existing situation. 

47. Archaeology – As the built area here is over 1 hectare, it is recommend that the 
applicant submits a report to show that the archaeological potential has been 
assessed prior to permission being granted. This should include a field-based 
evaluation of the site.

48. Access and Rights of Way – Advise that in order to improve safe pedestrian access 
to and from the site and the public footpath network, consideration should be given to 
provide a safe footway/footpath off the main road.

49. Sustainable Transport – Identify the presence of Public Footpaths and the National 
Cycle Network Route 1 in the vicinity of the site which offer the opportunity for 
occupiers to access neighbouring visitors. Improvements to these routes should be 
secured given the additional use the development proposes. 

50. Sustainability Officer – Advises that the site is not in a close vicinity to existing services 
or facilities, however the incorporation of a hub would assist in reducing some impact 
of local traffic movement. However a significant sustainability concern that the site is 
a designated Local Wildlife Site, which is of importance to European Protect Species. 

NON-STATUTORY  RESPONSES:

51. Visit County Durham – Advises that there is broad support and need for the delivery 
of tourism accommodation within County Durham. 

PUBLIC RESPONSES:

52. The application has been publicised by way of press notice, site notice, and individual 
notification letters to neighbouring residents. 

53. 47 letters of objection from local residents have been received in relation to the 
development as summarised below.

Ecology
 Objections are raised on the impact on ecological interests of the site highlighting 

that significant numbers of bird populations use the site in excess of 200 species. 
 It is identified that there is a functional link between this site and the other wildlife 

sites in the area.
 There are a number of protected species on the site including, Otters, Bats, Newts 

and Badgers which will be adversely affected by the development. 

Page 25



 The submitted surveys are considered inadequate to assess the impact of the 
development, including on bird and bat populations due to the timing and length of 
the surveys. 

 The development of the site would impact on the designation as a Local Nature 
Reserve. 

 The proposed mitigation is inadequate to address the impacts on relevant species. 

Highway Safety 
 Objections raised on the interests of highway safety due to slow moving vehicles and 

the limited visibility on the road network in the vicinity of the site. 

Visual Amenity/recreational function 
 The development would result in the loss of a tranquil, peaceful landscape.
 Attractive views from the Public Right of Way to the east of the site would be lost, 

this site is heavily used as a recreational route. 
 Light pollution would change the character of the site.
 It is highlighted that the public use of the area and that the development would 

permanently destroy a free leisure amenity and turn it into an over developed 
commercial site

 Concerns raised on the safety of the reservoir and whether this would be suitable for 
water related activities. It is highlighted that there are existing watersport facilities in 
the area and that there is no need for the development. 

Residential Amenity 
 Concerns are raised regarding the impact on residential amenity in relation to 

impacts associated with noise and disturbance and light pollution generated from the 
development on surrounding residential properties. 

Other Issues 
 Concerns raised on the safety of the reservoir and whether this would be suitable for 

water related activities. It is highlighted that there are existing water sport facilities in 
the area and that there is no need for the development. 

 Objections raised on the Impact of noise, disturbance and light on farming and 
equestrian related activities 

 Concerns are regarding the flooding of the site and downstream and whether the 
development would exacerbate problems along with concerns of water 
contamination. 

 Local plan policies do not permit the location of development in this location while the 
site would not be located in a sustainable location, could not be made sustainable, 
and would be car dominated 

54. Durham Wildlife Trust – The development will directly damage a Local Wildlife Site 
and be detrimental to the nature conservation of the site.  The application has not 
demonstrated that reasons for the development outweigh the nature conservation 
interest. There will be increase disturbance to wildlife, particularly European Protected 
Species and overwintering birds caused by the increase level of use around the 
reservoir, which cannot adequately be mitigated.

55. Durham Bird Club – Hurworth Burn Reservoir is one of the important bird watching 
sites within County Durham. Concerns are raised regarding the level of detail in the 
submitted surveys and their timing. The site attracts a wide range of birds some in 
significant numbers some rare. The proposals would result in the displacement of 
birds from the grasslands around the shore, which is utilised by bird populations. At 
present there is no activity away from the shores of the reservoir, concerns are 
raised regarding the displacement of birds, including in the summer months. 

Page 26



Concerns are raised on the future of the bird watching club if the main resource of 
the reservoir is lost the development of the site would impact in views from public 
rights of ways. Development of this site would conflict with EDLP and NPPF policies. 

56. Teesmouth Bird Club – Object to the development advising that if permitted it would 
destroy the reason for the designation of a local wildlife site. These sites are scarce 
in this part of County Durham. The level of disturbance will impact upon birds 
resulting them from being displaced from the site, disturbance can manifest itself at 
50m to 250m, the general width of the reservoir. The operation of the site only in the 
summer will still impact on bird populations, remaining mitigation measures re 
minimal. The NPPF emphasises the need to preserve and enhance biodiversity with 
the development would not. The submitted ES dismisses any functional ink between 
the reservoir and the SPA of the Tees Estuary. Linking studies of curlew commuting 
between the two sites has been published. 

57. CPRE – Object to the development, advising that the scheme would result in a 
significant intrusion into the countryside that would impact on the tranquillity of the 
site. The proposal would be contrary to policy 3 of the EDLP, whilst the development 
would also have a direct impact on the footpath to the west of the site, adversely 
affecting the enjoyment of it, contrary to policy 74 one the EDLP. Concerns are also 
raised regarding the nature of the road where it crosses the River Skerne where 
there is limited visibility. 

APPLICANTS STATEMENT: 

58. The proposal represents a unique opportunity to create a high quality Tourism 
Development in an area where jobs are needed. A summary of key facts regarding 
the proposal are as follows:

 
59. Job Creation and boosting the local economy: The proposal has support from the 

County Economic Development Team as it will deliver jobs and bring much needed 
income in to the local economy in the Trimdon area.

 
60. Delivering High Quality Tourist Accommodation: This proposal can assist in delivering 

Durham County Council’s Tourism Strategy, for which it is hoped that “by 2020 the 
country’s visitor economy will account for 17% of the County’s Economy” (Durham 
Tourism Management Plan 2016-2020).

 
61. Working with Ecology: 2 Ecologists have advised the applicant that development is 

possible on the site. As a result, the proposed development has been designed in 
such a way that the delicate balance between wildlife and human activity can be 
managed; by locating lodges and the Hub away from sensitive areas of the site, and 
allowing other areas (such as the proposed touring site) to be used at times of the 
year when they are not being used by wintering birds.

 
62. Limited Development Area within the site: This application only affects 16.6 acres of 

a 120 acre site. This represents only 13% of the total site area.
 

63. Wildlife Habitat Mitigation and Creation: have been proposed to improve the quality 
of the remainder of the site for wildlife; such as the creation of a protected zone around 
the reservoir shore, increase in the amount of hedgerows on the site, netting to some 
the existing footpaths prevent dogs straying off the public routes into habitats, and the 
cessation of grazing on the N & E side of the reservoir. Water based activities no 
longer form part of this proposal. There is also additional and almost identical habitat 
available at the 70 acre Crookfoot Reservoir 2 miles away.

 
Page 27



64. Good Highways Links: There are no objections from County Highways to the 
proposal, as the site is well connected to the A19 and A1 arterial routes.

65. Maintaining the Reservoir: The site is privately owned, and the reservoir has to be 
lawfully maintained to comply with the Reservoir Act 1975 at the expense of 
landowner. This proposal would allow the unique asset to be maintained for years to 
come for the benefit of future generations and wildlife alike.

The above represents a summary of the comments received on this application. The full written text is 
available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at 

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT

66. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that if 
regard is to be had to the development plan, decisions should be made in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
Easington District Local Plan (EDLP) remains the statutory development plan and the 
starting point for determining application.

67. The policies within the NPPF are a material consideration which should be taken into 
account in decision-making. The NPPF advises at Paragraph 213 Local Plan policies 
should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted or made prior 
to the publication of the framework. Due weight should be given to them, according to 
their degree of consistency with the framework. Other material considerations include 
representations received.

68. In this context, it is considered that the main planning issues in this instance relate to: 
The principle/location of development, ecological impact, landscape and visual 
appraisal, highway safety and access, residential amenity, flooding and drainage, 
ground conditions and other issues.

The Principle\Location of development

69. EDLP policy 1 sets out that regard will be had to the development plan when 
determining planning applications, setting out that account should be taken as to 
whether the proposed development accords with sustainable development principles, 
while benefiting the community and local economy. EDLP Policy 1 also sets out that 
developments are required to follow key principles applied to the location, design and 
layout of all new development. The policy sets out that all new development should be 
located within the settlement boundaries, except where development within the 
countryside would be allowed by other policies within the plan.  

70. EDLP Policy 3 defines development limits for the settlements and sets out that 
development outside the 'settlement limits' will be regarded as development within the 
countryside. The policy states that other than specifically allowed for by other policies, 
including policy 85 relating to countryside recreation and policy 86 relating to camping, 
caravan and chalet sites, development in the countryside will not be approved. The 
NPPF does not prevent a local planning authority from defining settlement boundaries 
and promotes the protection of the countryside and valued landscapes. However the 
formation of settlement boundaries would need to be based on adequate, up-to-date 
and relevant evidence about the economic, social and environmental characteristics 
and prospects of the area. As a result policy 3 should be afforded reduced weight in 
the decision making process.

Page 28

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/search.do?action=simple&searchType=Application


71. EDLP Policies 85 and 86, set out a criteria based approach to the assessment of 
countryside recreation, and camping, caravan and chalet sites, including ensuring that 
the development does not adversely affect the landscape. EDLP policies 85, and 86 
are not saved policies as they reflected guidance at a national level at the time. The 
NPPF does seek to promote sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which 
protect the character of the countryside, the development would also boost the rural 
economy in this respect, would be seen as a benefit of the scheme. The applicant sets 
out that the development would create 42-46 full time equivalent jobs and potential to 
bring in £800,000 per annum into the local economy. The Durham County Council 
Tourism Management Plan also offers broad support for rural tourism enterprises. 

72. Overall it is considered the location of a leisure uses including a camping/caravan site 
and chalet development, could in principle be considered acceptable in this location, 
providing the development protects the character of the countryside and satisfies other 
EDLP and NPPF policies. 

Ecological Impact 

73. EDLP Policy 14 states that development which is likely to adversely affect a 
designated Special Area of Conservation will only be approved where there is no 
alternative solution, or there are imperative reasons of over-riding national interest for 
the development. At the time of the EDLP being adopted no Special Protection Areas 
or Ramsar sites were designated within the former Easington District but the 
justification to the policy explains that if they are designated the same policy criteria 
would apply. Such designations have now occurred. Similarly, EDLP Policies 15 and 
16 applies the same criteria to develop notified sites of special scientific interest 
(SSSI), protected sites of nature conservation importance, local nature reserves and 
areas of ancient woodland. EDLP Policy 18 states that development that would 
significantly adversely affect any protected species, or its habitat, will only be approved 
where the reasons for the development outweigh the value of the species or habitat. 
EDLP Policies 1 and 19 seeks in general to promote the interests of nature 
conservation. 

74. The above EDLP policies are considered consistent with Part 15 of the NPPF which 
seeks to ensure that developments protect and mitigate harm to biodiversity interests. 
Specifically, Paragraph 175 states that if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from 
a development cannot be avoided, that planning permission should be refused. 
Furthermore where a development is likely to have an adverse effect on a SSSI it 
should not normally be permitted, unless in the exceptional circumstances where the 
benefits of the development in the location clearly outweigh its likely impact on the 
features of the site that make it of special scientific interest. Paragraph 177 of NPPF 
states that the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where 
development requiring appropriate assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directive 
is being planned or determined.

75. Additionally, regard is required to be had to The EU Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, The Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981, and The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. Objections 
have been raised in relation to the ecological impact of the development including from 
local wildlife groups. 

76. The site is designated a County Wildlife Site, which is located within 5 miles of the 
Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast which is designated as a Special Protection Area 
(SPA) Ramsar site, National Nature Reserve and SSSI, in part due to the assemblage 
of birds species including species of conservation importance. The applicant has 
submitted an Environmental Statement (ES), which assesses the impact of the 

Page 29



development on ecology interests. The ES identifies that the application site, including 
the water body of the reservoir, provides a habitat to a wide range of species including, 
otters, bats and assemblage of birds, including overwintering waterfowl. In reviewing 
the submitted information and considering the likely impacts of the development the 
Councils’ Ecology Section advise that the development would result in the disturbance 
and displacement of these species on what is currently an undeveloped site.    

77. Under Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive, an appropriate assessment is required 
where a plan or project (is likely to have a significant effect upon a European site, 
either individually or in combination with other projects: Further to this, Article 6(4) 
states that where an appropriate assessment has been carried out and results in a 
negative assessment, consent will only be granted if there are no alternative solutions, 
there are Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest for the development and 
compensatory measures have been secured. It is considered that an Appropiate 
Assessment is required for this proposal. 

78. The protection given by the Habitats Directive is transposed into UK legislation through 
the Habitats Regulations. Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs) are protected under the Habitats Regulations. As a matter of 
policy the Government also applies the procedures to Ramsar sites.

79. The submitted Environmental Statement (ES) notes that the proximity of the 
development to the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast which is designated as a SPA, 
Ramsar site, National Nature Reserve and SSSI. However the ES concludes that as 
the development is beyond 3.1 miles from these designated sites and there would be 
unlikely to be any functional link to the application site. In considering the conclusions 
of the ES the Council’s Ecology Section and Natural England highlight that there have 
been ring recoveries on the development site for Curlew, which is a qualifying bird 
species for the above designated sites. Both the Councils Ecology Section and Natural 
England, consider that the presence of this species establishes a functional link 
between the application site and the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA, Ramsar 
site, National Nature Reserve and SSSI sites and there could likely be implications on 
these sites conservation objectives. The link between the application site and the 
designated sites has not been explored further by the applicant.

80. The Council as the Competent Authority has undertaken an Appropriate Assessment, 
based on the information submitted and available, to consider the likely significant 
effects on the relevant sites. This concludes that the development would likely have a 
significant negative effect on the affected European sites (SPA and Ramsar) due to 
the likely functional link between the sites. The SAC is not considered to be likely 
significantly affected. In applying the precautionary tests contained of the Habitat 
Regulations, as it cannot be fully ascertained that the proposal would not adversely 
affect the integrity of the designated sites. As there is considered no imperative 
reasons of overriding public interest relating to human health, public safety or 
important environmental benefits, legislation sets out that the development should not 
be permitted. However in order to undertake a more comprehensive appropriate 
assessment more information would need to be supplied by the applicant to consider 
the link between the application site and designated sites. 

81. In relation direct impacts on other species on the site itself, it is highlighted that Otters 
use the site for foraging. The Councils Ecology Section advise that that the 
development would have a considerable negative effect by displacing otters from the 
wider reservoir through the reduction on foraging habitat caused by recreational 
disturbance. The Environment Agency object to the development as a result of this. 
The impact on the protected species and the loss of habitat is considered to conflict 
with EDLP policy 16 and 18 and paragraph 175 of the NPPF.      

Page 30



82. In relation to bats, it is advised by the Councils Ecology Section although low level 
bollard lighting is proposed across the development, light generated from the activities 
on site such as caravan lighting and headlights from vehicle movements would likely 
lead to a cumulative negative impact on the foraging of bats and displace them from 
large areas of the site. The impact on the protected species and the loss of habitat is 
considered to conflict with EDLP policy 16 and 18 and paragraph 175 of the NPPF.      
 

83. Overall, it is considered that the development would result in significant adverse 
impacts on biodiversity and protected species of a County Nature Reserve and based 
on the submitted information, would also likely adversely affect the Teesmouth and 
Cleveland Coast designated sites including, SPA, Ramsar site, National Nature 
Reserve and SSSI without any overriding national interest to justify the development. 
Consequently the proposal would be in conflict with EDLP Policies 14, 15, 16, 18 and 
19, as well as Paragraph 175 of the NPPF.

Landscape and Visual Appraisal 

84. EDLP policy 1 seeks to protect the visual amenity and openness of the countryside 
by setting development limits around existing settlements and protecting landscape 
character. The NPPF does not prevent a local planning authority from defining 
settlement boundaries and promotes the protection of the countryside and valued 
landscapes. However the formation of settlement boundaries would need to be based 
on adequate, up-to-date and relevant evidence about the economic, social and 
environmental characteristics and prospects of the area. As a result policy 1 should 
be afforded reduced weight in the decision making process.

85. Policy 35 of the EDLP requires that development reflects the scale and character of 
the area generally practically in terms of site coverage, detailed design and materials 
whilst having appropriate landscape features where required. The supporting text of 
the policy clarifies that new development should be well related to the local 
environment whilst respecting existing landscape features. Policy 35 is considered 
consistent with the NPPF in this respect. 

86. Objections have been raised regarding the visual impact of the development. 

87. The Applicants Environmental Statement, which includes a landscape visual impact 
assessment, considers the impact of the development on the surrounding landscape. 
The relevant section concludes that whilst the development would create a number 
of significant adverse impacts both visually and in landscape character terms, these 
impacts are confined to a relatively limited number of locations within 500m of the 
site. The ES concluded that these impacts are reduced due to the seasonal nature of 
the touring caravan season and once mitigation planting established in 10-15 years. 

88. The Councils Landscape Officer has reviewed the submitted information and 
identifies that the landscape surrounding the reservoir is not specifically designated, 
however it is bordered by a well-used recreation asset with a high number of visual 
receptors and has a tranquil and undeveloped nature. It is advised that whilst the 
development would have limited views in the wider landscape it would be 
transformative of the local landscape and would substantially damage the locations 
scenic qualities and visitor’s enjoyment of the site. Whilst it is accepted that the 
buildings themselves could be considered acceptable, cumulatively the development 
as a whole as above is not considered to respect the existing landscape features of 
the site as a whole and would not relate well the existing landscape. The development 
would also involve some tree loss to facilitate the erection of the ledges and access 
road, further impacting upon the character of the area. 

Page 31



89. Overall, it is considered that the development would be transformative of the 
undeveloped nature of the site leading to substantial adverse landscape harm 
contrary to policies 1 and 35 of the EDLP and the paragraphs 127 and 170 of the 
NPPF. This adverse impact needs to be considered within the wider planning balance.

Highway Safety and Access  

90. EDLP Policies 1 and 36 requires that development proposals achieve a satisfactory 
means of access for all users while seeking to protect highway safety in terms of 
vehicle movements and traffic generation. Policies 1 and 36 are considered compliant 
with the NPPF which also seeks to promote accessibility by a range of methods while 
ensuring that a safe and suitable access can be achieved and therefore can be given 
full weight in considering the application.  Concerns over highway safety, including 
the capacity of the road network to accommodate additional flows and the safety or 
the surrounding roads have been raised by local residents. 

91. The existing site is served by an existing single vehicle width field access on to 
Hurworth Road. It is proposed that the main vehicular access to the site would be 
relocated approximately 20m to east and provide 2.4x 125m visibility splays to the 
east and 2.4 x 161m to the west, 80m of existing hedgerow is proposed to be 
relocated to the facilitate this. The transport section within the ES concludes that even 
with the increase in vehicle movements as a result of the development Hurworth Burn 
Road would remain within its capacity and the development would not have a material 
impact on highway safety. 

92. In reviewing the proposals, the Highway Authority advise that this proposed access 
arrangement into the site would be acceptable, subject to implementing the proposed 
visibility spays. As this would involve land outside of the applicants control a Grampian 
condition would be required. 

93. In relation to pedestrian access, the Councils Sustainable Travel and Public rights of 
way officer highlight that there should be some pedestrian connectivity from the site 
access to the Castel Eden Walkway, while surfacing improvements to the castle Eden 
Walkway should be secured to mitigate the increase use of the site. It is considered 
that these matters could be addressed by condition, with space within the adopted 
highway to create a pedestrian footway. This would satisfy the requirements of polices 
74 and 75 of the EDLP which seeks to improve public rights of way networks and 
encourage accessibility for cyclists and pedestrians. 

94. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would be served by an appropriate means 
of access and would have an appropriate impact on the wider highway network, 
subject to conditions requiring the delivery of visibility spays, pedestrian access and 
surfacing improvements.  The scheme is considered acceptable with regards to EDLP 
Policies 1 and 36 Part 9 of the NPPF in this respect. 

Residential Amenity 

95. EDLP Policies 1 and 35 requires that the design and layout of development to have 
no serious adverse effect on the amenity of those living or working in the vicinity of the 
development site. These Policies are considered NPPF compliant.  Part 15 of the 
NPPF seeks to prevent both new and existing development from contributing to or 
being put at unacceptable risk from unacceptable levels of pollution.  Objections have 
been raised from adjoining residents regarding the impact of the operations through 
noise and disturbance on residential amenity. The nearest residential properties are 
located approximately 161m away from the development site. 

Page 32



96. The submitted ES considers the impact of the development in this respect, concluding 
that the development would not have an adverse impact on the noise climate, this 
would however be subject to control the operations of the site, including the restriction 
of water sports uses within the immediate vicinity of the site. 

97. The submitted assessments have been reviewed by the Councils Environmental 
Health and Consumer Protection Team (Pollution) who advise that the development 
is in a low noise area and therefore any noise, especially of an impulsive nature such 
as screams/shouts, are likely to be audible at nearby residential properties. Both 
affected residential properties also have line of sight onto the proposed development 
site and although fairly removed, noise will likely to be audible externally. However it 
is advised that providing the development is appropriately managed and reasonable 
precautions be imposed via a management plan the development is unlikely to result 
in significant noise impacts. Notwithstanding this, due to the existing noise climate, the 
development will materially alter the noise climate on site and as such will inevitably 
impact on the nearby residential properties over the existing situation. However it is 
considered that subject to conditions requiring a management plan to be produced, 
and likely noise levels, the level of harm would not result in a serious adverse impact, 
and would therefore not represent a conflict with policies 1 and 35 of the EDLP in this 
respect.  

98. In order to limit the potential disturbance for existing and future residents during 
construction, Environmental Health and Consumer Protection officers recommend that 
a construction management plan be secured to deal with construction related impacts.  
Subject to the imposition of such a condition construction related impacts could be 
mitigated. It is also recommended to control any plant erected on the proposed health 
centre to prevent any loss of amenity for future residents. 

99. Issues regarding a loss in value of existing properties are not a material planning 
consideration.

100. Overall, the scheme would result in a reduction in the level of residential amenity 
currently experienced by existing residents through general noise and disturbance 
associated with the development given the low noise climate. However the reduction 
in amenity is not considered to be at a serious adverse effect and would therefore not 
result in policy conflict, but the impact would need to be weighed in the planning 
balance. 

Flooding and Drainage 

101. National advice within the NPPF and PPG with regard to flood risk advises that a 
sequential approach to the location of development should be taken with the objective 
of steering new development to flood zone 1 (areas with the lowest probability of river 
or sea flooding).  When determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider development 
appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-specific flood risk 
assessment. 

102. The application is accompanied by a flood risk assessment (FRA) within the ES, which 
highlights that the application site, beyond the shoreline of the reservoir is within flood 
zone 1 with a low flood risk probability. The FRA does not set out a drainage strategy 
in relation to surface water treatment, attenuation and discharge. The Councils 
Drainage officer highlights that this should be submitted in support to the application. 
However although not the preferred approach, given the location of the site and nature 

Page 33



of the development it is considered that this matter could adequately be controlled by 
condition.

103. In relation to foul water from the development, following amendments, it is proposed 
to pump the foul water to the existing Northumbrian Water Drainage system. The 
Environment Agency no objections to this approach subject to controlling the final 
details and delivery.  No objections are raised from Northumbrian Water regarding the 
capacity of existing sewerage infrastructure.

104. Subject to conditions to detail the final surface and foul water disposal and a 
management strategy, no objections to the development on the grounds of flood risk 
or drainage are raised having regards to Part 15 of the NPPF.

Ground conditions 

105. In relation to land contamination the applicant has submitted a Phase 1 desk top study 
as part of the ES which confirms that there is a low risk of contaminants being present 
on site, but site investigation work is recommended. A conditional approach to further 
land contamination investigations including site sampling in accordance with Part 15 
of the NPPF is considered appropriate given the nature of the development.    

106. The development site falls outside of the Coal Authority High Risk Area. 

Other Issues

107. NPPF Paragraph 170 states that LPAs should recognise the economic and other 
benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land.  The development would 
result in the loss of approximately 6.12 of agricultural land. A site specific investigation 
into the land classification does not accompany the application. Nor do Natural 
England classification maps for the North-East region identify the agricultural 
classification of the site.

108. In a circumstance that the land is best and most versatile land this does not preclude 
the land from development but is a factor to consider in the determination of the 
application in the planning balance. In this instance it is considered that even if the 
whole site was best and most versatile agricultural land, its loss would not be 
significant, but nonetheless would be an adverse impact which should be given weight 
in the planning balance. 

109. The Environmental Health and Consumer Protection (Air Quality) officer advises the 
site is not in close proximity of any Air Quality Management Areas and based on the 
likely trip rates from the development no further assessment to qualify or quantify the 
impacts on air quality will be required.      

110. The Councils Archaeology Section, advise that a site investigation for archaeological 
interest should be undertaken prior to determination, as required by paragraph 189 of 
the NPPF. No assessment of the site has been undertaken in this respect, however 
it is considered that this in itself would not warrant a reason for refusal and given the 
nature of the application a pre commencement conditional approach could be 
adopted. Trimdon Conservation Area, which contains a number of listed buildings lies 
approximately 2miles to the west of the site. However due to this distance and 
intervening topography it is considered that there is no intervisibility between the site 
and this heritage asset and no impact.  

111. It is considered that the development would satisfy the requirements of policy 38 of 
the EDLP in respect of designing out crime, although dependant on the management 

Page 34



practices of the site and the requirement of lighting in hours of darkness recognising 
the associate environmental impacts of this. 

112. Policy 39 of the EDLP encourages the provision of artistic elements within new 
development, it is considered that this could be secured by condition or as part of any 
reserved matters application for the hub building. 

113. Concerns have been raised regarding the potential loss of view from residential 
properties of the countryside however this is not a material consideration.  

CONCLUSION

114. It is concluded that the development would conflict with policies 1, 14, 15, 16, 18 and 
19 of the EDLP due to the adverse impact on biodiversity and protected species, and  
based on the submitted information, would also likely adversely affect the Teesmouth 
and Cleveland Coast designated sites including SPA, Ramsar site, National Nature 
Reserve and SSSI without any overriding national interest. These policies are 
considered consistent with the NPPF and up to date in this respect.  The development 
would lead to substantial adverse landscape harm and not relate well to the existing 
site contrary to policies 1 and 35 of the EDLP.

115. The NPPF is a material planning consideration required to be taken into account in 
the determination of the application. However the NPPF sets out at paragraph 177 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where 
development requiring appropriate assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directive 
is being planned or determined. An appropriate assessment has been undertaken 
which concludes that there is likely to be a significant effect on the Teesmouth and 
Cleveland Coast SPA and Ramsar site. 

116. The NPPF does seek to promote sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments 
which protect the character of the countryside, the development would also boost the 
rural economy in this respect, would be seen as a benefit of the scheme. It is however 
concluded above that the development would conflict with paragraph 175 of the NPPF 
which sets out that if significant harm to biodiversity cannot be avoided, mitigated or 
compensated for the planning permission should be refused. Furthermore it is 
concluded that the development would likely that have an adverse effect on a SSSI 
where the benefits of the development would not outweigh the harm, again paragraph 
175 advises planning permission should not be granted in such circumstances. The 
development would also result in adverse landscape harm contrary to paragraph 127 
and 170 of the NPPF. 

117. The development would result in the loss of 6.17ha of agricultural land and potentially 
this could be best and most versatile agricultural land, however, even in such a 
scenario this level of loss is not significant. 

118. The development would reduce the level of amenity currently experienced by 
neighbouring residential properties through noise and disturbance, however this is not 
to a serious adverse level that would result in conflict with EDLP policies or the NPPF. 

119. In conclusion, whilst there are some benefits of the scheme including the delivery of 
tourism accommodation and associated economic benefits, these are not considered 
to outweigh the conflict with EDLP policies. 

Page 35



RECOMMENDATION

That the application is Refused for the following reasons:-

1. The development would result in significant adverse impacts on biodiversity and 
protected species on a County Wildlife Site and would also likely adversely affect the 
Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special Protection Area, Ramsar site, National 
Nature Reserve and SSSI without any adequate mitigation or compensation and no 
overriding national interest to justify the development. The proposal is therefore in 
conflict with policies 1, 14, 15, 16, 18 and 19 of the Easington District Local Plan and 
Paragraph 175 of the NPPF.

2. The development would result in a transformative impact upon the existing 
undeveloped nature of the site with resultant substantial adverse landscape affects, 
unsympathetic to its landscape setting and thereby contrary to policies 1 and 35 of the 
Easington District Local Plan  and  paragraphs 127 and 170 of the NPPF.

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT

The Local Planning Authority in arriving at its recommendation to refuse this application has, 
without prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised, and 
representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive 
manner with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development to improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in accordance with the NPPF. 
(Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) (CC) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.)

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Submitted application form, plans supporting documents and subsequent information 
provided by the applicant.
The National Planning Policy Framework (2018)
National Planning Practice Guidance Notes
Easington District Local Plan 
Statutory, internal and public consultation responses

Page 36



 

   Planning 
Services

DM/17/01033/FPA Hybrid planning application for the 
formation of 81 touring caravan pitches, 26 holiday 
lodges and associated amenity, storage and 
maintenance buildings, infrastructure and access. 
Erection of building to serve as a water sports centre, 
including bar/restaurant (outline all matters reserved 
except access). Part change of use reservoir to allow 
non-motorised water sports.

CommentsThis map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the 
permission o Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her majesty’s 
Stationary Office © Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and 
may lead to prosecution or civil proceeding.
Durham County Council Licence No 100022202 2005

Date  January 2018 Scale   Not to scale

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 4 December 2018
	5 Applications to be determined

